# Ambulatory Assessment

## Timothy J. Trull<sup>1</sup> and Ulrich Ebner-Priemer<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Psychological Sciences, University of Missouri, Columbia, Missouri 65211-1350; email: trullt@missouri.edu

<sup>2</sup>Institute for Sport and Sport Science, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, 76131 Karlsruhe, Germany; Central Institute of Mental Health, 68072 Mannheim, Germany

Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 2013. 9:151-76

First published online as a Review in Advance on November 13, 2012

The Annual Review of Clinical Psychology is online at http://clinpsy.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050212-185510

Copyright © 2013 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

### Keywords

ecological validity, smartphone, e-diary, psychophysiological monitoring, behavior observation

#### Abstract

Ambulatory assessment (AA) covers a wide range of assessment methods to study people in their natural environment, including self-report, observational, and biological/physiological/behavioral. AA methods minimize retrospective biases while gathering ecologically valid data from patients' everyday life in real time or near real time. Here, we report on the major characteristics of AA, and we provide examples of applications of AA in clinical psychology (*a*) to investigate mechanisms and dynamics of symptoms, (*b*) to predict the future recurrence or onset of symptoms, (*c*) to monitor treatment effects, (*d*) to predict treatment success, (*e*) to prevent relapse, and (*f*) as interventions. In addition, we present and discuss the most pressing and compelling future AA applications: technological developments (the smartphone), improved ecological validity of laboratory results by combined lab-field studies, and investigating gene-environment interactions. We conclude with a discussion of acceptability, compliance, privacy, and ethical issues.

## Contents

INTRODUCTION 152	2
WHAT IS AMBULATORY ASSESSMENT? 152	2
Methods of Ambulatory Assessment 154	ł
THE USE OF AMBULATORY ASSESSMENT	
IN CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY 157	,
Investigating Mechanisms and Symptom Dynamics 158	;
Predicting Psychopathological Symptoms 159	)
Monitoring Treatment Effects 159	)
Predicting Treatment Success 160	)
Relapse Prevention	
Interactive Ambulatory Assessment: Interventions in the Real World 162	2
THE FUTURE OF AMBULATORY ASSESSMENT	
IN CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY 166	5
The Smartphone	5
Ecological Validity of Laboratory Results: From the Scanner into the Wild 167	,
Testing Gene × Environment Interactions	3
Challenges: Acceptability, Compliance, Privacy, and Ethical Issues 169	)

## INTRODUCTION

Despite unparalleled advances in technology over the past several decades, the clinical assessment of psychopathology and psychological problems, as typically practiced, still relies on traditional paper-and-pencil questionnaires and face-to-face clinical interviews. However, these tried-andtrue methods are limited in a number of ways, including total reliance on patients' retrospective self-report, the skill of the clinical interviewer, and the artificial setting of the assessment (the clinic). In this review, we define and discuss a burgeoning research approach that promises to overcome many of the limitations of traditional clinical assessment approaches while providing rich information about the daily lives of individuals who may be studied or treated by clinical scientists and mental health professionals.

## WHAT IS AMBULATORY ASSESSMENT?

Ambulatory assessment (AA) is an important research tool that has come into its own over the past two decades, promising to minimize retrospective biases while gathering ecologically valid data, including self-reports, physiological or biological data, and observed behavior, for example, from daily life experiences. Recently, P. Wilhelm et al. (2011) provided a historical overview of daily life research, explaining the factors that led to the development of the AA approach. But before launching into a discussion of the philosophy behind AA and providing examples of its use in clinical assessment and in intervention, it is important to provide a definition of AA and to outline its relationship to other forms of experience sampling.

AA: ambulatory assessment

AA uses a wide range of assessment methods to study people in their natural environment, including self-report, observational, and biological/physiological/behavioral. Here, we use the term AA to represent a methodological umbrella that encompasses increasingly computerized or digitized methods of experience sampling (historically using paper-and-pencil diaries), ecological momentary assessment (typically using electronic diaries or mobile phones), and continuous psychophysiological, biological, and behavior monitoring (typically using sensors or actigraphs). Although some use the terms AA, ecological momentary assessment (Stone & Shiffman 1994), experience sampling method, ecological momentary intervention, real-time data capture, continuous unified electronic diary method (Ellis-Davies et al. 2012), and e-diary methods interchangeably, we adopt the term AA because it captures the wide variety of methods, sampling, and data structures involved in the assessment of daily life experience (Fahrenberg & Myrtek 2001, P. Wilhelm et al. 2011; http://www.ambulatory-assessment.org).

Many features distinctly characterize AA from more traditional assessment approaches. AA (*a*) is idiographic in focus and allows for the examination of multiple individual processes (emotional, behavioral, psychophysiological); (*b*) is characterized by the collection of data in real-world environments, increasing the ecological validity of findings; (*c*) focuses on individuals' current or very recent states or behaviors and collects multiple assessments of each individual over time, typically several times per day; and (*d*) can be continuous (in the case of physiological assessment, for example), event based (initiated by the individual based on instructions), interactive (initiated by physiological signals detected by monitoring devices), time based, or randomly prompted (as well as combinations of these).

AA has many conceptual advantages over traditional research designs when investigators are interested in characterizing dynamic, clinically important psychological processes. Relative to laboratory research, AA has the advantage of being ecological—processes such as mood can be studied in participants' "natural habitats," where they are subject to the many environmental and interpersonal factors that typify their lives but cannot be recreated in the laboratory. Of course, AA research can sample not only the process of interest (e.g., mood, alcohol use) but also characteristics of the environment (e.g., location, time of day, presence of interpersonal conflict) that change over time and may be important in explaining variation in the process of interest. Thus, AA studies can yield exceptionally rich descriptive data.

Another advantage of AA studies is that they are designed to capture momentary ratings. Historically, investigators have often attempted to gather data on dynamic psychological processes by using single-occasion retrospective self-reports. Although, intuitively, the argument for obtaining data on persons in real time or near real time is compelling, it is important that momentary assessments in the real world are shown to provide some incremental validity over both retrospective and dispositional reports of the individual. In other words, does the cost-benefit ratio favor momentary reports like those afforded through AA? It has been shown that the accuracy of these momentary reports is higher than retrospective reports of events, behaviors, and experiences (e.g., Schwarz 2011. Solhan et al. 2009). Furthermore, if the goal is to assess biological, psychological, or behavioral processes, then it is clear that multiple assessments over relevant time periods are necessary, as opposed to cross-sectional or global reports. Beyond these clear advantages of AA over retrospective and global reports, it seems likely that AA data are uniquely qualified to define and conceptualize the "experiencing self," which can then in turn be linked to autonomic and biological systems (Conner & Barrett 2012). Therefore, if the goal is to identify biological and physiological features or systems that are associated with one's immediate experience, AA provides measurement most proximal in time to the biological and physiological underpinnings of experience in the real world.

Computerization represents another advantage of AA protocols over traditional field techniques. Investigators have often collected field data using paper diaries, asking individuals to complete one or more diary entries per day between visits to the study center. A chief limitation of this approach is that investigators cannot be sure that the ratings were actually completed at the times specified by the research design. Participants may neglect making scheduled ratings, then backfill their diaries before reporting to the study center to avoid admitting they failed **PDA:** personal digital assistant

**BPD:** borderline personality disorder

to make the scheduled ratings (Stone et al. 2002). AA studies using computerized or digital devices eliminate this problem because electronic devices [e.g., personal digital assistants (PDAs), smartphones] time stamp both prompts and entries. Furthermore, participants using electronic devices typically show high rates of compliance at the time of the scheduled prompt. For example, subjects drawn from a variety of clinical populations have provided timely responses to 85% or more of the delivered prompts (Collins et al. 1998, Hufford et al. 2002, Shiffman et al. 1996, Stone & Shiffman 2002, Trull et al. 2008).

Before discussing the methods and uses of AA in more detail, we want to highlight many excellent reviews and resources related to AA of clinical problems that have appeared recently. For example, a special section on AA approaches appeared in *Psychological Assessment* in 2009 (Trull & Ebner-Priemer 2009), including articles focused on substance use disorders (Shiffman 2009), anxiety disorders (Alpers 2009), mood disorders and mood dysregulation (Ebner-Priemer & Trull 2009), and psychosis (Oorschot et al. 2009). Haedt-Matt & Keel (2011) provided a meta-analysis of studies using AA to address the affect regulation model of binge eating. Telford et al. (2012) reviewed a number of AA studies that address various aspects of the etiology and maintenance of depression, as have Aan Het Rot et al. (2012), Myin-Germeys et al (2009), and Wenze & Miller (2010). Both Nica & Links (2009) as well as Santangelo et al. (2012) reviewed AA studies of borderline personality disorder (BPD). Special sections on AA methods appeared recently in *Psychosomatic Medicine* (Kubiak & Stone 2012) and in *Schizophrenia Bulletin* (Ben-Zeev 2012). Finally, we point readers to several recent books that provide a range of coverage on the conceptualization, implementation, and analysis of data from AA studies (Mehl & Conner 2011, Stone et al. 2007).

Our article does not attempt to comprehensively review studies using AA, given these recent reviews targeting specific clinical disorders and methods. Furthermore, we focus primarily on clinical problems other than substance use disorders, given Shiffman et al.'s (2008) previous contribution to the *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology* that used many studies of these disorders as exemplars (especially tobacco dependence).

#### Methods of Ambulatory Assessment

A wide range of AA methods exist. Here, we organize these into three categories: self-report, observational, and physiological/biological/behavioral.

**Self-report AA.** This form of AA is probably the most familiar. Here, individuals provide responses to queries that are either prompted (e.g., random prompts or prompts at set times) or self-initiated (e.g., when a predefined event occurs such as drinking alcohol, having an interpersonal encounter, craving a substance, etc.). Questions, response formats and time-frames, and sampling schedules vary depending on the research question or the clinical construct being addressed (Ebner-Priemer & Sawitzki 2007, Palmier-Claus et al. 2011). Conner & Lehman (2011) provide practical guidelines for choosing the appropriate length of monitoring as well as the frequency of assessments per day, given the target constructs and the research question.

Many devices are used to collect AA self-reports. In early AA research, PDAs and interactive voice response (IVR) systems were used. In both cases, individuals responded to queries (either written text in the case of PDAs or voice in the case of IVRs) by selecting response options using a stylus or pressing buttons. Although both technologies are serviceable, they have been largely supplanted by mobile phones and by smartphones. In the case of mobile phones, text messaging is frequently used to contact individuals and to gather data. Smartphones can accommodate many more types of self-reported data collection, including text messaging, responses to survey questions presented on screens, voice recordings/dictation, and video logs, to name some of the possibilities.

There are many advantages to obtaining self-reports through AA, and most studies include this mode of assessment. However, it is important to recognize some limitations and caveats. A concern with all self-report assessments is whether memory heuristics or biases may influence the validity of the results. This is perhaps less a concern for AA self-reports because they typically concern immediate or very recent mood, thoughts, and behavior. Furthermore, it seems probable that AA self-reports, given that they characterize the immediate, experiencing self, are most likely to be associated with physiological and biological processes of these reported states as opposed to retrospective or trait self-reports (Conner & Barrett 2012).

Perhaps a larger concern for AA self-reports is that of reactivity (Barta et al. 2011). Studies have documented the reactivity of traditional self-monitoring in terms of ultimately changing the frequency of the behavior one is monitoring (e.g., drinking, smoking). However, are AA self-reports vulnerable to reactivity effects as well? Barta et al. (2011) note that although, in general, it seems AA self-reports are not likely to be affected greatly by reactivity, some studies do show such an effect. For example, Conner & Reid (2012) demonstrated reactivity effects on the reporting of mood using mobile technology, and recently Courvoisier et al. (2012) reported evidence for reactivity (a time-dependent compliance pattern) as well.

So, how might one detect or protect against reactivity in AA? In order to address the possibility of reactivity in AA research, Barta et al. (2011) suggest using appropriate control groups (e.g., a group that does not use AA diaries), examining the data for any trends or response changes that may suggest reactivity effects (both within and across participants), looking for evidence of response shifts where participants may change the meaning they assign to scale ratings, and ensuring that data are as likely to be contributed on certain days (e.g., weekend days) or times of day (e.g., late evening) that might be associated with the behavior of interest (e.g., drinking alcohol). Large studies with thousands of participants allow investigators to integrate control groups with a small number of e-diary questions into the overall study so that one can calculate study-specific reactivity.

Finally, there is the concern about the generalizability of AA self-report data: Perhaps certain individuals are deterred from participation because of the perceived complexity of the technology (hardware and software) such that only the most motivated and those most open to new technology may take part (Palmier-Claus et al. 2011). In our experience, many researchers and clinicians remain skeptical about the ability or willingness of patients with severe disorders to comply with AA research protocols. However, this apprehension seems largely unfounded (Ben-Zeev 2012, Wenze & Miller 2010). To the contrary, even severely ill patients (e.g., with schizophrenia, BPD, or substance dependence) show good compliance and low dropout rates in general. Furthermore, these patients do not appear to be censoring reports, often endorsing dysfunctional or less socially desirable behaviors such as cutting, drinking, and bingeing.

**Observational AA.** Perhaps less familiar are observation methods of AA. These do not rely on the self-report of the individual and provide a means for assessing ambient sound, speech, activity, location, and context. For example, the Electronically Activated Recorder (EAR; Mehl & Robbins 2011) is an audio-recording device worn by individuals that periodically samples short segments of ambient sounds (including conversations) in the environment. In providing an observer's point of view rather than the typical agent's point of view, the EAR is a methodological tool that has the potential to offer unique information in the assessment of behavior (Mehl & Robbins 2011). Like other forms of AA, the EAR maintains ecological validity by recording participants in their natural environment and by allowing for intensive longitudinal assessments. Also, as an observational alternative to self-report, the EAR has the potential to provide information that participants may be unable or unlikely to report due to limitations in self-awareness, poor recall of events, social desirability biases, and the inability to aggregate information (Wilson & Dunn **EAR:** Electronically Activated Recorder

**GPS:** global positioning system

2004). Although the EAR is limited in that it can assess only audible traces of behavior and affect, it bypasses many of the problems associated with traditional observational methods. Most EAR data are still coded by trained raters, but automated systems to classify emotions and affect in speech are available (Rachuri et al. 2010, Schuller et al. 2011).

Recently, Tomko et al. (2012) used the EAR to assess interpersonal behavior and affect in patients with BPD and patients with current depressive disorder. The EAR was worn by these patients for three consecutive days and periodically recorded 50-second snippets of ambient sounds. Trained coders listened to the captured recordings and rated participants' affect during each 50-second clip (i.e., in naturally varying social contexts). Results indicated that depressed patients were less likely to spend time with others when experiencing anger than were BPD patients. Furthermore, there were differences between diagnostic groups regarding the social context of anger, such that anger at a previous time interval predicted spending time alone in the subsequent time interval for the depressed group, but not for the BPD group.

Other forms of AA observational methods include collecting global positioning system (GPS) data from sensors in phones or devices on the person, using light sensors to infer context (e.g., inside versus outdoors), using still photos or video cameras to record surroundings/context, and using video or sensors to detect interaction with other people. For example, Vahabzadeh et al. (2010) reported on an ongoing study in which treatment-seeking drug-dependent patients carry an electronic diary and a GPS logger for many weeks, such that their activities and locations could be assessed. What is unique about this study is that the urban area the patients inhabit has been geocoded for "environmental disarray," which includes scores related to likelihood of crime, drug use, and drug dealing, among other features. Therefore, integrating electronic diary and GPS data will allow investigators to examine environmental influences on drug craving, drug buying, and relapse.

Although there are many advantages to observational AA (e.g., not relying on patient selfreport, remaining relatively unobtrusive and therefore not as vulnerable to reactivity effects), there are limitations as well. First, many observational AA methods target only one form of activity or channel. For example, the EAR can only tell us about audible events, situations, or contexts. On the other hand, photos will not record acoustic information. Second, most observational AA devices still require the cooperation of participants; the devices must be worn as instructed. Finally, some of these devices have both power and storage limitations. These limitations may require participants to charge the devices often and to frequently come into the lab to download the stored data.

**Physiological/biological/behavioral AA.** As mentioned previously, many identify the term AA with ambulatory physiological or biological assessment, although AA is now much broader than assessment in these domains. A number of physiological and biological processes are associated with psychopathology, personality, and problematic emotions and behavior. Many studies have examined electro-dermal activity, cardiac activity and heart rate variability, and respiration correlates of psychopathology. For example, Meuret et al. (2011) explored the physiological precursors to and correlates of unexpected panic attacks by conducting repeated 24-hour ambulatory monitoring of patients with panic disorder. Interestingly, the hour before the panic attack onset was characterized by variability in heart rate (rising and then dropping several cycles), instability in physiological activity was observed after panic onset and following the panic attack. These results suggest that patients did not perceive the physiological changes leading up to an unexpected panic attack and challenge the idea that physiological arousal or instability does not occur until the onset of unexpected panic attacks.

Another form of physiological/biological AA includes the assessment of hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis activity by collecting salivary cortisol during daily life. Cortisol reactivity to stressful events is believed to be enhanced in those with emotion regulation problems. Havermans et al. (2011) explored whether cortisol reactivity patterns would differentiate remitted bipolar patients from normal controls. Patients in remission from bipolar disorder and healthy controls were prompted 10 times a day for six consecutive days to produce a saliva sample and, at each time point, were asked about the experience of a positive or a negative event since the last prompt. Results indicated that the two groups did not differ in mean cortisol levels over the six days and that members of both groups, on average, showed similar levels of cortisol reactivity to negative events. However, remitted patients showed less diurnal decrease in slope of cortisol level during the day as well as lower autocorrelation between successive cortisol levels than did the healthy control group. The latter finding indicates that cortisol secretion was less stable over successive measurements, suggesting that this may be a hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal dysregulation marker among remitted bipolar patients.

Actigraphy is used in AA in order to quantify physical activity level. Three-axis accelerometers can be worn on the wrist or ankle in order to quantify activity level and to make inferences about type of activity based on body position and movement (e.g., walking, running, lying down). Many forms of psychopathology may be associated with activity level, for example, depression and reduced activity or mania and hyperactivity. Furthermore, it is important to take activity levels into account when interpreting AA physiological data because activity level can affect electro-dermal activity, cardiac activity, and respiration (Houtveen & de Geus 2009).

It may be helpful to illustrate the use of actigraphy in the study of psychopathology. For example, Aronen et al. (2011) were interested in motor retardation as a cardinal feature in depression. Objectively measured motor activity distinguished depressed children from their nondepressed peers, both during daytime and nighttime. In depressed children, motor activity was linked with the severity of self- and teacher-reported symptoms, as well as with suicidal ideation specifically. It is also worth noting that results for actigraphy studies have revealed discrepancies between objective assessments of physical activity and self-report, parent report, or expert report (Adamo et al. 2009, Bussmann & Ebner-Priemer 2011, Prince et al. 2008, Razavi et al. 2011). This is especially concerning in the area of child and youth clinical assessment for hyperactivity or physical aggression. These AA studies suggest that subjective reports of activity level should be interpreted with caution. Finally, actigraphy studies have also been used to investigate the effects of medications on motor activity in mood disorders (Baune et al. 2007, Benedetti et al. 2007).

If researchers are interested in behavioral or physiological aspects of functioning, the objective measurement of these processes in everyday life using psychophysiological or behavioral AA is the gold standard (Adamo et al. 2009, Bussmann & Ebner-Priemer 2011, Prince et al. 2008). However, the costs of such studies are usually higher because of the expense of devices, the management of large amounts of data, and the complexity of data analyses. Additionally, the burden of the participants is higher, too, which explains why the duration of most AA physiological studies often is only 24 or 48 hours. Several recent publications offer good overviews of the devices, methods, empirical findings, and caveats in psychophysiological and behavioral monitoring (Bussmann & Ebner-Priemer 2011, Ebner-Priemer & Kubiak 2007, Houtveen & de Geus 2009, F.H. Wilhelm et al. 2011).

## THE USE OF AMBULATORY ASSESSMENT IN CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

We now turn our attention to several topics related to the current use of AA in clinical psychology (*a*) to investigate mechanisms and dynamics of psychopathological symptoms, (*b*) to predict the

future recurrence or onset of symptoms, (c) to monitor treatment effects, (d) to predict treatment success, (e) to prevent relapse, and (f) to administer interventions.

MDD: major depressive disorder NA: negative affect PA: positive affect HC: healthy control

### Investigating Mechanisms and Symptom Dynamics

The repeated nature of AA enables researchers to investigate how psychopathological symptoms are related to each other across time and environments, such that the dynamics and mechanisms of psychopathology can be explored in much more detail than was previously possible. To illustrate, we present several studies targeting major depressive disorder (MDD) and BPD.

Assessing putative mechanisms. AA can be used to investigate mechanisms believed to underlie significant emotional changes in everyday life. Here we summarize recent research on two potential mechanisms relevant to MDD: stress sensitivity and reward experience. Stress sensitivity can be defined as the experience of negative affect (NA) following negatively appraised daily life events. Reward experience can be defined as positive affect (PA) in response to positively appraised (i.e., pleasant) situations. This mechanism may help explain how positive emotional responses in daily life can decrease both stress sensitivity and the expression of genetic risk for depression (Wichers et al. 2010).

In an early study, Peeters et al. (2003) assessed stress reactivity and reward experience in patients with MDD and in healthy controls (HCs) using paper-and-pencil diaries. Surprisingly, in comparison with the HCs, MDD participants showed blunted NA responses to negative events (i.e., reduced stress reactivity) and enhanced PA responses to positive events (i.e., enhanced reward experience). Although their NA responses to negative events were blunted, NA responses to negative events persisted longer in MDD participants, and MDD participants reported fewer positive events. Finally, MDD participants with a positive family history for depression or with longer current depressive episodes showed relatively greater NA responses to negative events. A later study that added more participants to this protocol showed increased stress reactivity in individuals with MDD compared to HCs (Myin-Germeys et al. 2003), and this finding was subsequently replicated by Wichers et al. (2009).

The heritability of these purported mechanisms was investigated in two studies. Wichers et al. (2007) showed that nondepressed twins with a cotwin diagnosed with MDD exhibited greater stress reactivity than did individuals with a healthy cotwin, suggesting that genetic liability to depression may, in part, be expressed by a heightened NA response to everyday stress. In addition, Wichers et al. (2009) investigated whether genes associated with depression may act by accelerating the process of stress sensitization following stress exposure over the life course. Indeed, nondepressed twins at high genetic risk for depression (i.e., with a cotwin with a history of depression) exhibited higher levels of daily life stress sensitivity as a function of exposure to both prenatal stress (low birth weight) and postnatal stress (childhood adversity and adult recent negative life events) than did those at low genetic risk. These findings suggest that, in MDD, high stress sensitivity in everyday life may be at least partially the result of an inherited vulnerability combined with acquired developmental challenges (e.g., childhood adversity).

These studies examining potential mechanisms of depression are promising, but it is important to recognize some of their limitations as well. In addition to problems in defining and operationalizing these mechanisms (e.g., how do you separate the effect of the event from the appraisal of the event in stress reactivity?), criticism has been raised regarding the simultaneous assessment of events, appraisal of events, and affect (Geschwind et al. 2010). Future research should attempt to disentangle these constructs, perhaps by separating questions for different domains (e.g., events, appraisals, and affects) into different assessments. Despite these limitations, we do see the assessment of putative mechanisms of depression and other forms of psychopathology as a very promising application within the AA field.

Assessing affective dynamics. Traditional clinical assessment approaches (e.g., cross-sectional assessment, retrospective assessment) cannot uncover and precisely characterize the ebb and flow of symptoms. Many disorders and symptoms are defined and characterized by instability, a feature that can be measured only by multiple and frequent assessments. For example, AA studies have demonstrated heightened affective instability in individuals with BPD compared to HCs (Ebner-Priemer et al. 2007) and compared to depressive patients (Trull et al. 2008). Highlighting the limitations of traditional assessment approaches, research has shown that the relationship between retrospective questionnaire trait measures of affective instability and affective instability as experienced in everyday life is modest at best (Links et al. 2003, Solhan et al. 2009). At the same time, it is important to acknowledge that the quantification and characterization of dynamic processes such as mood is challenging. Fortunately, a number of methodological papers have appeared in recent years, presenting multilevel models to analyze instability of symptoms (Eid et al. 2011, Jahng et al. 2008, Trull et al. 2008), investigating the appropriateness of timebased sampling designs (Ebner-Priemer & Sawitzki 2007), visualizing instability patterns (Ebner-Priemer & Trull 2011), and analyzing multidimensional unstable processes (Ebner-Priemer et al. 2009).

#### Predicting Psychopathological Symptoms

Wichers et al. (2010) investigated the degree to which daily life (*a*) stress sensitivity, (*b*) reward experience, (*c*) fluctuations in NA and PA, and (*d*) mean NA and PA might improve the prediction of future recurrence of depressive symptomatology in remitted depressed subjects. Toward this end, they used paper-and-pencil diaries to assess women with a history of major depression over five consecutive days. Diaries were used to document mood, stress sensitivity, and reward experience. Depressive symptomatology was assessed at follow-up several times up to 14 months later. Wichers et al. (2010) found that reward experience and daily life fluctuations in NA significantly predicted future negative affective symptoms over and above what could be predicted by questionnaires. Mean NA and reward experience were the strongest predictors for recurrence of MDD.

Geschwind et al. (2010) examined prospectively whether high reward experience protects against negative affective symptoms (anxiety, depression) and whether environmental or genetic risk factors moderate these protective effects. Approximately 500 female twins participated in an experience sampling study measuring reward experience in daily life. They also completed questionnaires targeting childhood adversity and recent stressful life events. Negative affective symptoms were measured at baseline and at four follow-ups using questionnaire anxiety and depression subscale scores. Co-twin negative affective symptoms were used as indicators of genetic risk. Findings revealed no overall association between reward experience in daily life and later affective symptoms, regardless of level of genetic risk. However, lower reward experience predicted later affective symptoms, when controlling for baseline affective symptoms, in people with a history of childhood adversity or recent stressful life events.

#### **Monitoring Treatment Effects**

Perhaps the earliest study reporting monitoring of treatment using AA was conducted by Klosko et al. (1990), who used daily self-monitoring to track panic episodes during a medication trial. Five years later, Barge-Schaapveld et al. (1995) evaluated the effects of antidepressants in MDD

patients, assessing patients using paper-and-pencil diaries before and after six weeks of treatment. Compared to nonresponders, treatment responders showed greater increases in positive affect and greater decreases in negative affect during all activities as well as greater increases in time spent on chores and greater decreases in passive leisure time.

In a second clinical drug trial, Barge-Schaapveld and colleagues (Barge-Schaapveld & Nicolson 2002, Wichers et al. 2009) used paper-and-pencil diary assessment in patients with current MDD and HCs to investigate the effects of six weeks of either imipramine or placebo. Barge-Schaapveld & Nicolson (2002) used quality of life as an outcome measure. Despite greater clinical improvement in depression at week six, participants receiving antidepressants did not report greater increases in momentary quality-of-life ratings compared to participants receiving placebo. By week 18, although remitted participants' global quality of life improved (as measured by retrospective questionnaires), the momentary assessments of patients' quality of life suggested less improvement. Using the same data set, Wichers et al. (2009) found that momentary stress sensitivity and reward experience changed in the same direction in the placebo group and the antidepressant group. However, stronger effects were found in the active treatment group. Additionally, increase in reward experience discriminated between treatment responders and nonresponders.

Finally, Geschwind et al. (2011b) recently investigated the effects of mindfulness-based cognitive therapy on momentary positive emotions and on the ability to make use of natural rewards in daily life. Study participants had residual depressive symptoms and a lifetime history of depression, and they were randomized to a mindfulness-based cognitive therapy group or to a wait-list group. Paper-and-pencil diaries were used to assess PA, NA, and the appraisal of pleasant activities in daily life during the six days before and after the intervention. Compared to the control group, patients receiving mindfulness-based cognitive therapy rated their current activities as increasingly pleasant, their PA levels increased, and their NA levels decreased. The treatment group also showed an increase in reward experience. This effect was independent of depressive symptoms, rumination, and worry. Given the role of positive emotions in resilience against depression, it appears reward experience may contribute to the protective effects of mindfulness-based cognitive therapy against depressive relapse (Geschwind et al. 2011b).

#### Predicting Treatment Success

Geschwind et al. (2011a) provided impressive support that early improvement in positive rather than negative emotions best predicted success in pharmacotherapy. Participants with depression took part in two experience-sampling periods: during an initial baseline week and during the last three days of the first week of treatment with medication. Early improvements in PA during the first week of treatment, compared to the baseline week before, significantly predicted continuous depressive symptomatology as well as response and remission, independent of change in NA. Early improvement of PA was associated with a 34 times higher chance of achieving remission. Furthermore, all participants with early improvement of PA qualified as a treatment responder at week six. The authors suggested that antidepressants might activate resilience-like mechanisms and that monitoring of positive emotions in early stages of treatment may improve clinical decision making.

Peeters et al. (2010) and Wichers et al. (2012) used AA indices of emotional reactivity to predict improvement and remission in major depression. In the Peeters et al. (2010) study, MDD patients received pharmacotherapy with supportive psychotherapy and were followed and assessed for response status and depression level over the next 18 months. Paper-and-pencil diaries were used to assess affect and appraisals for six days before start of treatment. Individuals who exhibited reduced NA reactivity to negative life events were less likely to remit from MDD

over the 18-month follow-up period, even after controlling for initial depression severity, episode duration, and baseline mean mood levels. In addition, diminished reactivity to everyday life events predicted relatively higher depression severity levels during the first month of the follow-up period, over and above what could be accounted for by baseline depression severity, episode duration, and mean levels of reported mood. However, diminished emotional reactivity only predicted depressive symptoms at the earliest follow-up points and did not predict symptoms at subsequent follow-up points (2 months, 3 months, 6 months, 12 months, and 18 months).

**SMS:** short message service

Wichers et al. (2011) found that a reduction in NA following the maximum increase in PA provided a means to discriminate between treatment responders and nonresponders, and higher NA after the maximum PA increase was associated with more depressive symptomatology at six-month follow-up. No significant differences were found for any other type of NA-PA dynamic. Whereas retrospective measures of depressive symptomatology at baseline had no predictive value regarding outcome, dynamic daily life patterns of negative and positive emotions showed incremental predictive validity. A more favorable future course of depression was associated with stronger reductions of NA following increase in PA over the course of the day.

Most recently, Forbes et al. (2012) sought to predict the course and outcome of an eight-week open trial of cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT), pharmacotherapy, or a combination of the two in children and adolescents with depressive and anxiety disorders. Given that adolescents with depression report experiencing heightened sensitivity to social rejection and increasing symptoms during isolation from peer cliques, Forbes et al. (2012) also assessed social dynamics (with companions) using e-diaries in natural settings over the four days before treatment. Higher PA, lower NA, a higher PA:NA ratio and more time spent with fathers predicted lower posttreatment severity, depressive symptoms, and anxiety symptoms. Furthermore, Forbes et al. (2012) examined the predictive validity of momentary affect above and beyond retrospective self-reports of depressive and anxiety symptoms. Retrospective self-reports did not predict the course of clinical severity over treatment, whereas NA did, indicating added value for AA.

## **Relapse Prevention**

Because many psychiatric disorders are episodic in nature, relapse prediction and prevention programs are of major interest. AA devices such as smartphones can be used to monitor symptoms in real time, calculate risk for new episodes of illness on an individual basis, and even administer therapeutic interventions. Spaniel et al. (2008a) developed a relapse prediction and prevention program for schizophrenia to identify prodromal symptoms of relapse in schizophrenia, to enable early intervention, and to prevent unnecessary hospitalizations. In a one-year open trial, patients with schizophrenia and their family members were sent a 10-item questionnaire weekly about early warning signs of schizophrenia via short message service (SMS; texting). Responses were returned via SMS, and if the total score of the responses exceeded a given threshold, an early intervention process was triggered: (a) The psychiatrist was notified by an email message and encouraged to contact the patient by phone, (b) the dose of antipsychotic medication was increased by 20% within the next 24 hours, and (c) the SMS questionnaire prompts to family members were doubled. The researchers reported a 60% reduction in the number of hospitalizations compared to the one-year period prior to the intervention. Although these results are promising, the study did not include a control condition to rule out alternative explanations. In a one-year extension of this study including additional patients with psychotic illness, Spaniel et al. (2008b) confirmed their main findings, reporting a 77% decrease in the number of hospitalizations and a 60% decrease in the number of hospitalization days.

#### Interactive Ambulatory Assessment: Interventions in the Real World

There are a number of compelling arguments for AA as an intervention platform (Clough & Casey 2011, Cohn et al 2011, Depp et al. 2010, Ebner-Priemer & Trull 2009, Wichers et al. 2011). First, for decades, clinicians have struggled with the challenge to translate principles and strategies learned in the clinician's office to the real world of the patients. AA can enhance the transfer of skills to real-world settings by prompting individuals to apply their skills in daily life, when and where they are needed. Second, AA methods foster engagement and adherence. For example, Clough & Casey (2011) suggest that many clients maintain a personal relationship with their mobile devices, as these devices provide a direct link to their social and support networks. Clients typically carry their mobile phones on their person throughout the day, and the widespread use of smartphones also reduces the chance of feeling embarrassed about completing diaries in public. Third, self-monitoring greatly facilitates self-management (Wichers et al. 2011). For example, quantifying and depicting patterns of daily life emotional experience may give patients insight into the nature of their own depressive symptomatology. Finally, even though mental health treatment has become much more affordable in the past 20 years, many patients are still not adequately treated for financial reasons. Interventions using the AA platform can be a more cost-effective approach, reducing the frequency of face-to-face sessions or even replacing the need for in-person psychosocial intervention altogether.

The use of the AA platform to administer empirically supported treatments is still in its infancy. A recent review on AA interventions for smoking cessation, weight loss, anxiety, diabetes management, eating disorders, alcohol use, and healthy eating and physical activity can be found in Heron & Smyth (2010). Here we present a few examples.

AA intervention for anxiety disorders. The most extensive body of studies investigating the use of the AA platform for treatment has targeted anxiety disorders. In a series of studies, a palmtop computer-assisted treatment program for anxiety disorders was tested and evaluated. The palmtop computer beeped several times per day, prompting patients to self-monitor their anxiety levels and to practice techniques in response to anxiety cues. The palmtop computer administered the following treatment modules: self-statements, breathing control, situational exposure, and interoceptive exposure. In an early uncontrolled pilot study, Newman et al. (1997) attempted to improve the efficiency and cost-effectiveness of CBT by using adjunct palmtop computer-assisted therapy. The researchers randomly assigned patients to a 12-session CBT condition or to a four-session computer-assisted CBT condition. Results indicated improvements in both treatment conditions over time and no differences between groups, suggesting that both treatments were equally effective at posttreatment and at six-month follow-up. The palmtop computer-assisted treatment program has also been used in single cases with generalized anxiety disorder (Newman et al. 1999) and social phobia (Przeworski & Newman 2004). When the authors examined treatment costs, they estimated a savings of \$540 to \$630 per client when compared with standard individual CBT (Newman et al. 1997, 1999).

In a subsequent study, Kenardy et al. (2003) compared a 12-session therapist-delivered CBT treatment, a brief six-session therapist-delivered CBT treatment, a palmtop computer–augmented six-session therapist-delivered CBT treatment, and a wait-list condition. Approximately 200 patients with panic disorder across two sites in Scotland and Australia were randomly assigned to treatment conditions. Patients in all treatment conditions showed improvement compared to the wait-list group at posttreatment. At posttreatment, the 12-session CBT condition showed stronger effects compared to the six-session CBT without the computer. The overall effect of the palmtop computer–augmented treatment fell between the other two treatment conditions and could not be

statistically distinguished from either one. There were no differences between the active treatment conditions at six-month follow-up. Treatment costs were lower for the brief treatment and for the computer-augmented condition compared to the standard treatment.

Gruber et al. (2001) used palmtop computers as an adjunct to cognitive behavioral group therapy for social phobia. Patients were randomly assigned to a 12-session cognitive behavior group therapy, to an eight-session cognitive behavioral group therapy utilizing handheld computers to facilitate homework assignments, or to a wait-list control group. At posttreatment, both treatments were superior to the wait-list control on most behavioral measures, but the computerassisted therapy and the wait-list conditions did not differ significantly on self-report measures. At posttreatment and follow-up, standard therapy and the brief computer-assisted therapy were equally effective in reducing symptoms and improving behaviors associated with social phobia.

AA intervention to remind clients to use previously learned skills. Norton et al. (2003) described the development of an integrative cognitive therapy for eating disorders including palmtop modules as therapy extension devices. Similarly, Solzbacher et al. (2007) discussed the development and application of a distress regulation reminder sent via cellular phone during high levels of distress in those with chronic posttraumatic stress disorder, bulimia nervosa, and BPD. Kimhy & Corcoran (2008) presented a case report of using AA as a treatment adjunct to improve homework completion and overcome treatment barriers associated with negative symptoms with a female patient at high risk for psychosis. Finally, Depp et al. (2010) recently reported on a pilot study where outpatients with bipolar disorder received a preselected self-management strategy reminder after signaling to the PDA that they were experiencing an exacerbation in symptoms or an episode trigger.

AA intervention using text messaging. An intervention using text messaging on mobile phones in the psychological aftercare of patients suffering from bulimia nervosa was developed by Bauer and colleagues (Bauer et al. 2003, Robinson et al. 2006, Shapiro et al. 2010). Bauer et al. (2003) investigated SMS text messaging in the aftercare of patients suffering from bulimia nervosa. Participants were required to report weekly on their symptoms, and the researchers replied, offering support and advice. The program lasted six months following inpatient treatment and aimed to reduce the risk of relapse. Reporting on two patients, Bauer et al. (2003) suggested that the SMS aftercare intervention was a helpful bridge between inpatient treatment and outpatient daily life.

Robinson et al. (2006) used this same approach in patients with bulimia nervosa, starting directly after outpatient treatment. Although similar software and methodology were used, Robinson et al. reported low usage and high attrition rates, and found only small effect sizes for improvement. Less than half of participants completed the study. Most participants viewed the lack of personal contact negatively and indicated that they would not recommend the program to others. The authors noted that the SMS program was a minimal aftercare intervention, which may not have been appropriate for the more severe cases. Shapiro et al. (2010) recently reported a feasibility study using the same SMS text-messaging approach during a 12-week outpatient CBT treatment group program for bulimia nervosa. Again dropout rates were high (between 50% and 60%, depending on how dropout was calculated). Four questions were administered at the end of the day, followed by an individualized feedback message. Additional symptoms were assessed using daily paper-and-pencil diaries.

On the more positive side, Granholm et al. (2012) developed an interactive text-messaging intervention for patients with schizophrenia. SMS messages focused on medication adherence, socialization, and the experience of auditory hallucinations. These text messages were sent to participants with schizophrenia three times daily for a 12-week period. Participants first received

two assessment text messages regarding psychopathology as well as cognitions. In addition, patients completed two assessments following the texted personalized interventions, including, for example, thought-challenging messages for unhelpful beliefs or behavioral coping or behavioral experiment suggestions. In addition, the participants received weekly summarized feedback. The authors reported a dropout rate of 24%, much higher than in regular AA studies, but similar to that of AA treatment studies (e.g., Solzbacher et al. 2007). Granholm et al. (2012) reported improvements in medication adherence, socialization, and auditory hallucinations due to the intervention, but no control group was included, limiting the conclusions that can be drawn.

It is important to acknowledge some potential limitations in the SMS or texting approach to AA interventions. First, depending on the nature of the text message (i.e., texting questions directly versus texting a secure web page with questions and structured response formats), there may be limited response options available to the recipient. Furthermore, it may be cumbersome to use texting when there are many items in the survey, and it may be difficult to assess multiple symptoms via SMS. Another problem in using SMS as an intervention platform is the time delay of SMS messages sent. Contrary to patients' (and clinicians') expectations, not all SMS messages reach recipients in less than one second. Based on our own experience, in rare cases SMS messages may take up to an hour to be sent and received. This is especially problematic if the research design works with a sequence of SMS messages or if the timing of responses to the messages or of interventions is crucial.

Interventions using apps. Given the large number of consumer electronic applications (apps) that are available for tracking behaviors, habits, and symptoms, it seems clear that people have a great interest in monitoring and improving their symptoms. Increasingly, apps can be used to either enhance or administer mental health treatment. For example, Rizvi et al. (2011) developed the DBT Coach, an interactive mobile phone application offering in vivo skills coaching for enhancing generalization of a specific dialectical behavior therapy (DBT) skill, as well as for reducing maladaptive urges and dysfunctional behavior in individuals with BPD. Individuals with BPD and comorbid substance use disorder who were enrolled in a DBT treatment program used the phone application for 10 to 14 days. Both emotion intensity and urges to use substances significantly decreased, reinforcing the idea that offering in vivo skills coaching may be a powerful tool for reducing maladaptive urges and dysfunctional behavior in individuals with BPD.

Luxton et al. (2011) recently conducted a search for all apps specifically developed for health and mental health issues. They discovered hundreds of apps, covering a wide range of relevant health topics including anxiety, depression, smoking, alcohol use, psychosis, diet, exercise, weight loss, nutrition, parenting, cognitive performance, relationships, relaxation, sleep, spirituality, and general well-being. According to Luxton et al. (2011), however, no oversight or standards for behavioral health via smartphone and associated apps exist. However, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration is working on regulations for mobile medical applications, and there is now published draft guidance for the industry to facilitate discourse (http://www.fda.gov/downloads/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/ GuidanceDocuments/UCM263366.pdf).

Our own review of health-related apps for electronic devices suggests that although some appear to be based on existing, empirically supported treatments or assessments, there is little evidence to indicate that these approaches have been validated or evaluated for use in an app format. There are also many apps that do not appear to be based on empirically supported treatments or assessments. Although studies that have directly and empirically evaluated the efficacy or effectiveness of apps targeting mental health constructs are scant, some of these initial efforts are clearly worthwhile and laudatory, given the seriousness of the problems they seek to address (e.g., the suite of posttraumatic stress disorder apps created by the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs National Center for PTSD and the Department of Defense National Center for Telehealth and Technology).

Privacy concerns are of particular importance when evaluating the mental health–related apps that are currently available. Patient data entered into the app are often owned by the software company, which retains the right for use of the data. Even worse, Thurm & Kane (2010) reported that 55% of the apps tested in their study were found to send some of this information to other companies (i.e., other than the maker of the app). This is a significant risk to user confidentiality, especially when considering the target behaviors of many apps (e.g., smoking, alcohol use, psychosis, and weight loss). Clinicians, patients, and consumers should be aware of what information each app collects in order to make an informed choice regarding risk to privacy.

AA interventions to provide feedback or to administer novel treatment. Grassi et al. (2007) examined the use of mobile phones to deliver relaxation exercises in a sample of nonclinical participants. The software program was based on the principles of progressive muscle relaxation and other relaxation techniques. Interestingly, the program included audio- and video components to facilitate imagination of calm environments. Results indicated that participants in a combined audio- and video-component group experienced significant reductions in anxiety as well as improvements in self-efficacy, with medium-to-strong effect sizes. No differences were found among other groups. Similarly, Morris et al. (2010) conducted a pilot test of ten subjects over a one-month period using a mobile phone application with surveys for mood reporting and as well as for administering treatment, including modules of breathing visualization, a physical relaxation animation, and a series of cognitive reappraisal exercises. The authors analyzed single cases and reported symptom reduction in some participants. Unfortunately, no control group or control condition was part of the study.

Tryon et al. (2006) used a sophisticated actigraphy device in boys with diagnoses of attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder. The device continuously measured physical activity during school periods. Individually tailored, moment-specific feedback, triggered by physical activity, was given to each boy in order to reinforce activity level reductions. Most of the participants greatly reduced their activity level (i.e., by 20% to 47% of baseline level). Whereas this approach is similar to laboratory-based biofeedback approaches, it differs essentially in that behavior was assessed and changed in the boys' natural environment.

Sorbi et al. (2007) developed a system called ODA (online digital assistance) that combines AA and online coaching. Direct feedback through the Internet was used to reinforce self-care and healthy behavior in everyday life. An initial study tested ODA's feasibility and acceptability in patients with migraine attacks. Participants were prompted several times a day by a PDA that was connected by a secure central server. Participants were questioned about migraine attacks and precursors of a migraine as well as preventive action. The answers were analyzed by the server, which calculated the current risk for a migraine attack using predefined algorithms. The participants received nearly immediate feedback about their current state, advice regarding how to circumvent migraine attacks (individually tailored to their current state), and "cheer ups" to enhance compliance and motivation.

Finally, Wichers et al. (2011) recently introduced a promising hardware device (PsyMate) for AA. It is designed to be used in standard clinical care for enhancing self-management by giving patients a visualization of their symptoms and their symptoms' context dependency. This feedback is thought to actively engage patients in the process of recovery and increase the patient's insight into the nature of the emotional dysregulation. In addition, clinicians using this device in their practice might get a better understanding of the nature of the individual's depression

and increased insight in how medication impacts daily life mood states in the individual, and this information may better guide decisions on medication type or dosage.

## THE FUTURE OF AMBULATORY ASSESSMENT IN CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

In this final section, we present and discuss several issues we believe will be most pressing and compelling in the development of future AA applications in the field of clinical psychology.

#### The Smartphone

A recent Pew survey indicated that 46% of American adults now own a smartphone, up from 35% a year earlier (Smith 2012). Worldwide, it is predicted that by 2014 there will be about 1.8 billion smartphone users (Portio Res. 2012). The most basic application of a smartphone is to prompt and log self-reported momentary responses in AA. However, the contemporary smartphone is much more than a PDA or a mobile phone. Today's state-of-the-art smartphone is actually a versatile computer that you just happen to talk with, possessing many positive features, including powerful processing capacity, large memory storage capacity, the ability to multitask, a range of connectivity possibilities with other devices, many built-in sensors (e.g., light sensors, proximity sensors, three-axis accelerometers, three-axis gyroscopes, Bluetooth sensors), the potential to link with external sensors (e.g., electro-dermal activity, cardiac activity, brain activity), GPS capabilities to track location and time, digital cameras and video recorders, and audio input/output and recording (Miller 2012).

With its onboard sensors and the capability to communicate and interact with other devices, the smartphone has become the central hub for AA. Here we present a sample of smartphone-based studies to illustrate the new possibilities.

Dufau et al. (2011) argue that studies investigating human cognitive faculties show limitations and sampling biases because of the use of small and homogeneous groups as volunteers coming to research facilities. They propose that smartphone technology can overcome this problem by collecting data in cognitive science experiments from thousands of subjects from all over the world. To demonstrate their point, they chose the lexical decision task, a psycholinguistic task where response time and accuracy is assessed while participants are engaged in deciding whether or not a letter string is a word. The task was programmed as an app for the iPhone and uploaded at the iTunes app store. Participants downloaded the app, performed one or more sessions of 50 to 140 randomly selected stimuli, and voluntarily provided data such as age, gender, handedness, and native language. Within four months the researchers received test results from more than 4,000 participants from all over the world, covering seven languages. Data showed the expected response distributions compared to laboratory data. In addition, a striking linear relationship between iPhone response and a within-laboratory lexical decision experiment was shown. It is also noteworthy that Dufau et al. (2011) argued that this AA methodology helped them sample a more diverse population than is typically represented in psycholinguistic experiments, namely undergraduate students. A similar approach has been used by Killingsworth & Gilbert (2010) to collect data on the relation between mind wandering and happiness in more than 5,000 participants using an iPhone app (http://www.trackyourhappiness.org).

Automatic recognition of emotion from speech is an emerging field of research in computer science (Schuller et al. 2011). Most of the work in emotion recognition is laboratory based. A noteworthy exception is a study by Rachuri et al. (2010), who developed EmotionSense, a smartphone-based fully context-aware programmable mobile sensing system. The system

monitors audio signals, acceleration, Bluetooth signals, and location (GPS), and it is composed of a speaker-recognition subsystem and an emotion-recognition subsystem. Audio samples are recorded and processed to extract speaker and emotion information by comparing it to a set of speaker-dependent models and preloaded emotions, installed during the setup phase of the system. The authors evaluated the system both in the lab with data from an emotion speech library and in everyday life. In the field study, participants gave additional information via e-diary about emotions, location, and presence of other people.

Smartphones are likely to play an even greater role in observational AA. These devices can record sound, take pictures, provide GPS data, and provide video recordings. Smartphones of-fer additional possibilities, including monitoring communication patterns by tracking application usage (Shepard et al. 2011) or tracking social context by assessing the density of local Bluetooth devices (Do et al. 2011). In a series of studies, Shepard et al. (2011) demonstrated that smartphone usage is person-specific and context dependent, meaning that different applications are used at different locations and different websites are visited at different times of the day. Person-specific usage patterns may be particularly informative because changes in communication behavior might be related to changes in mood. To monitor a range of processes on smartphones, Aharony et al. (2011) developed funf, an extensible sensing and data-processing framework for Android-based mobile devices. Funf provides an open-source, reusable set of functionalities, enabling the collection, uploading, and configuration of a wide range of data types, including scripts for data visualization.

#### Ecological Validity of Laboratory Results: From the Scanner into the Wild

A relatively untapped application of AA is to evaluate the ecological validity of laboratory results (Wilhelm & Grossman 2010). Laboratory methods are often considered the best way to establish the causal relationships among influences and outcomes. However, although the internal validity of experimental methods is often quite high, there are relatively few demonstrations of the ecological validity or real-world relevance of the findings. For example, the Decade of the Brain witnessed an explosion of research aimed at establishing the neural correlates of a range of psychological features, especially emotional and cognitive processes. In a typical study, standardized stimuli that are believed to evoke these processes are presented to a participant while neural responses are measured using imaging techniques.

The important question is whether these laboratory results translate into real-world emotional. cognitive, or behavioral experiences. To date, only a handful of studies have taken this additional step of evaluating the ecological validity of laboratory imaging results. Forbes et al. (2009) examined the real-world experience of positive affect in depressed adolescents who earlier participated in a functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) paradigm to identify neural mechanisms associated with reward processing. As expected, neural processing related to reward anticipation and reward outcome during these tasks differed between depressed adolescents and healthy controls. Of most interest was the finding that activation in the caudate region, which distinguished the two groups, was significantly correlated with prompted participant momentary self-report of positive affect on mobile phones while in their natural environment. Specifically, within the depressed group, reduced caudate activation significantly predicted lower mean positive affect scores in the natural environment. Also focusing on depression, Walther et al. (2012) examined the ecological validity of results from diffusion tension imaging, which suggested less psychomotor activation. White matter integrity in two clusters associated with the motor system was linearly associated with activity levels during waking hours as assessed using an actigraph worn on participants' wrists in both groups. In a similarly designed study, Walther et al. (2011) found that white matter integrity in the right supplemental motor area was negatively associated with real-world activity level in patients with schizophrenia but not in controls.

Several nonclinical studies warrant mention as well. Barrett et al. (2007) assessed amygdala activity in response to fearful faces using fMRI in undergraduates who had previously participated in an AA study of affective experience in daily life. Participants were prompted 10 times per day over 28 days to report on affective experience. fMRI imaging one year later revealed that those who had previously reported higher levels of negative affect showed greater amygdala activity in response to fearful face stimuli. Eisenberger et al. (2007) reported that neural activity elicited from a social rejection task was positively correlated to momentary reports of social distress over a 10-day period in a sample of young adults. Interestingly, although activity in three brain regions during an experimental prime for social rejection was positively related to average momentary social distress scores, activity in these brain regions during the task was not significantly related to the correspondence between momentary social distress reports and end-of-the-day reports of social disconnection. Thus, momentary reports had unique neural activity correlates, independent of what could be accounted for by end-of-the-day reports. Finally, Berkman et al. (2011) recently found that inhibition-related activation of certain brain regions in the laboratory moderated the association between momentary craving and subsequent smoking as assessed using mobile phones in a sample of adults participating in a smoking cessation program. Activation in the basal ganglia, in particular, predicted a reduction in smoking over the 21-day experience-sampling phase of the study.

#### Testing Gene x Environment Interactions

Models of gene  $\times$  environment (G  $\times$  E) interactions posit that specific "susceptibility genes" to psychological problems may be expressed under certain environmental conditions or in response to certain adversities. Since the publication of initial results from the influential Dunedin study (e.g., Caspi et al. 2003), hundreds of publications have examined the evidence for G  $\times$  E effects in the manifestation of psychopathology. However, critics have pointed out the large number of failed replications as well as noted that very little variance in psychological problems or disorders is accounted for by these G  $\times$  E effects (e.g., Duncan & Keller 2011).

Unfortunately, typical G  $\times$  E studies measure environment influences in very imprecise ways. For example, adversity in childhood is often measured retrospectively, and even if the account is accurately recalled, the environmental influence is quite distal from the present symptoms or disorder manifestations that are being examined. Moffitt et al. (2005) recommend that measurement of environmental stress or adversity be prospective, cumulative, and proximal in order to adequately characterize environmental risk for psychopathology in G  $\times$  E studies. Furthermore, Finan et al. (2012) note that AA methods can be used to improve both the reliability and validity of phenotype being investigated, and AA methods can help to identify and assess intermediate phenotypes (e.g., stress reactivity) that are more relevant to the processes of the expression of the genes under certain environmental conditions.

To date, only a small (but growing) number of studies have used AA within the G  $\times$  E framework to investigate psychopathology (for a recent review, see Finan et al. 2012). We present a few illustrative examples here. Gunthert et al. (2007) demonstrated that the mixed findings for the relationship between the serotonin transporter gene polymorphism (5-HTTLPR) and anxiety in previous studies appeared to be due to the insufficient measurement of the intermediate phenotype of anxiety/stress reactivity. In other words, findings for this association were contingent on the occurrence of stress-activated anxiety in daily life. Gunthert et al. (2007) note traditional studies that assess anxiety under mixed or no-stress conditions are unlikely to uncover this relationship

Trull • Ebner-Priemer

because these studies do not consider the important environmental circumstances that foster this effect (i.e., stress in daily life).

Oorschot et al. (2009) summarized results from two clinical studies that examined emotional and psychotic reactivity to stress among patients with psychosis. These studies focused on the COMT Val<sup>158</sup>Met and BDNF Val<sup>66</sup>Met genotypes, and the authors found  $G \times E$  effects for stress and increased psychotic experiences, stress and increased negative affect, and cannabis use and hallucinations (Henquet et al. 2009, Van Winkel et al. 2008). More recently, Ray et al. (2010) examined the effects of alcohol consumption on levels of self-reported vigor and of negative mood in heavy drinkers based on whether each individual was a carrier of a polymorphism on the ORPM1 gene (associated with reinforcing effects of alcohol) and on the DRD4 gene (associated with drug reward). Drinkers with the targeted polymorphism on the ORPM1 gene reported higher levels of vigor and lower levels of negative affect as a function of increasing blood alcohol concentration in daily life. Carriers of the targeted DRD4 polymorphism reported greater urges to drink following increased levels of blood alcohol concentration.

Although the findings from these studies are interesting and illustrate another approach to measuring environmental influences on the expression of psychopathology, it is important to recognize some major limitations in these studies (see Dick 2011 for an overview of issues). First and foremost, the sample sizes in existing studies are much too small to reliably detect  $G \times E$  effects, which themselves are notoriously small. Thousands of participants are needed. Second, factors that are considered environmental (e.g., stress, stress reactivity) may actually be under some degree of genetic influence, and it is necessary to test for the presence of gene-environment correlation as well. Finally, the inadequate scaling of environmental influences (i.e., how these are quantified) can lead one to conclude that a  $G \times E$  effect exists when in fact it does not. In summary, we believe that AA studies are better suited to measure environmental influences in daily life (versus retrospective self-report). However, it will be necessary to collect AA data on much larger samples (and perhaps combine these) in order to adequately test  $G \times E$  effects.

#### Challenges: Acceptability, Compliance, Privacy, and Ethical Issues

It is very easy to be "wowed" by the possibilities in AA given the advances in smartphone technology, the increasing portability and long battery life of sensors that can interact with the smartphone, and the expanding possibilities of devices that can be used to both track and observe behavior. However, we must not be so enamored with the prospects of AA that we ignore or downplay important issues that should be considered and addressed before incorporating AA methods into clinical research or treatment. First, it is unlikely that AA methods will be readily adopted unless mental health professionals and clients or patients are comfortable with the technology. In addition, in the case of wireless technologies, patients (and clinicians) who live in areas not well served by wireless networks (e.g., rural areas of the United States) may experience some difficulty using handheld computers or smartphones. Second, some may also initially react to AA as potentially voyeuristic and intrusive (Conner & Lehman 2011). Therefore, it is necessary to anticipate these possible reactions and to be prepared to address these concerns with assurances regarding what specific data are being collected, what the data will be used for, how the data will be protected and not linked to individuals, as well as to discuss the limits of confidentiality (Conner & Lehman 2011, Goodwin 2011). Finally, AA methods are time intensive for patients and costly for clinicians and clinical researchers. Therefore, a demonstration of savings in time as well as incremental gain in knowledge is necessary before AA methods will be used routinely.

Even if participants and clinicians are open to using AA in clinical research or treatment, compliance with an AA protocol is a function of many additional variables including user-friendliness, burden of the protocol, and length of study period, to name a few. Fortunately, studies routinely document that individuals appear to be open to the use of wireless devices and are able to comply with prompts for assessments while in their natural environment (Ebner-Priemer & Sawitzki 2007, Hufford 2007, Shiffman 2009, Wenze & Miller 2010). However, one must not assume that high rates of compliance are guaranteed, and it is important to design studies and treatment trials that address reasons known to lead to poor compliance and to build in features known to increase compliance (Hufford 2007, Palmier-Claus et al. 2011). In addition, it is important to recognize that we know much less about compliance with interventions in the natural environment. For example, in the case of an interactive assessment with individually tailored moment-specific feedback, an individual must not only reliably report on his or her experience multiple times a day, but must also apply specific skills at the requested times to alleviate symptoms. Alternative strategies (e.g., self-recording audio or video using a smartphone) may be necessary to document the ability and willingness to implement the interventions when prompted to do so.

Finally, there are several privacy and ethical considerations for using AA. As with all electronic devices and communications used to document health status, privacy is a concern. Some of these concerns can be allayed by using password-protected devices and protocols, using dataencryption and secure servers to house data, and providing HIPAA (Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996) training to all those who have access to patient data. Other issues are perhaps more complex, such as how best to disclose data collected passively (e.g., through body sensors) if health problems are implicated, how best to respond to crises or emergencies that occur in the field (e.g., suicidality), and how to protect data that may indicate illegal activity (e.g., underage drinking, use of illicit substances). Recently, Shepard et al. (2011) interviewed their participants to better understand privacy concerns. Surprisingly, participants were open to having investigators monitor the content of emails or texts, if data were analyzed immediately on the phone, without saving the email content itself. Given enough processing power on the smartphone, real-time analysis might be a promising way to address privacy concerns.

As mentioned above, it is important to build in certain safeguards and options into the design of the study or clinical intervention. It is always important to do extensive pilot testing of the protocol (Conner & Lehman 2011). In this way, one can get a better sense of the right balance between collecting relevant data and the intrusiveness and burden of the protocol. Another step that we use in our studies is for the investigator and some staff to actually participate in the full protocol before going into the field. This exercise can often provide insights about participant experience of the AA protocol, ultimately improving compliance and investigators' troubleshooting ability down the line. In addition to fully informing the participants as to the methods of the study, the nature of the questions and the data being collected, and the steps being used to ensure privacy and confidentiality, it is of course important to allow anyone undergoing AA to discontinue participation at any point in the study or trial. Finally, like others (e.g., Mehl & Robbins 2011), we encourage participants to be very open about the devices they are carrying or wearing while around family, friends, or coworkers as well as about the focus of the study itself (i.e., the focus is on the participant). In our experience, this serves several purposes: (a) Participants more quickly habituate to carrying and wearing the devices, reducing reactivity; (b) individuals who interact with the participant also habituate to the devices and are less likely to feel as though they are being spied on or are being included in a study without their consent; (c) if a family member or close friend objects, this becomes clear early in the study before too much time and energy is invested; and (d) it is more likely that the participant will actually carry and wear AA devices in his or her daily life.

#### DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

#### LITERATURE CITED

- Aan Het Rot M, Hogenelst K, Schoevers RA. 2012. Mood disorders in everyday life: a systematic review of experience sampling and ecological momentary assessment studies. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 32:510–23
- Adamo KB, Prince SA, Tricco AC, Connor-Gorber S, Tremblay MS. 2009. A comparison of indirect versus direct measures for assessing physical activity in the pediatric population: a systematic review. *Int. J. Pediatr. Obes.* 4:2–27
- Aharony N, Pan W, Ip C, Khayal I, Pentland A. 2011. Social fMRI: investigating and shaping social mechanisms in the real world. *Pervasive Mobile Comput.* 7:643–59
- Alpers GW. 2009. Ambulatory assessment in panic disorder and specific phobia. Psychol. Assess. 21:476-85
- Aronen ET, Simola P, Soininen M. 2011. Motor activity in depressed children. J. Affect. Disord. 133:188-96
- Barge-Schaapveld DQCM, Nicolson NA, van der Hoop RG, deVries MW. 1995. Changes in daily life experience associated with clinical improvement in depression. J. Affect. Disord. 34:139–54
- Barge-Schaapveld DQCM, Nicolson NA. 2002. Effects of antidepressant treatment on the quality of daily life: an experience sampling study. J. Clin. Psychiatry 63:477–85
- Barrett LF, Bliss-Moreau E, Duncan SL, Rauch SL, Wright CI. 2007. The amygdala and the experience of affect. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 2:73–83
- Barta W, Tennen H, Litt M. 2011. Measurement reactivity in diary research. See Mehl & Conner 2011, pp. 108–23
- Bauer S, Percevic R, Okon E, Meermann R, Kordy H. 2003. Use of text messaging in the aftercare of patients with bulimia nervosa. *Eur. Eat. Disord. Rev.* 11:279–90
- Baune BT, Caliskan S, Todder D. 2007. Effects of adjunctive antidepressant therapy with quetiapine on clinical outcome, quality of sleep and daytime motor activity in patients with treatment-resistant depression. *Hum. Psychopharmacol. Clin.* 22:1–9
- Benedetti F, Dallaspezia S, Fulgosi MC, Barbini B, Colombo C, Smeraldi E. 2007. Phase advance is an actimetric correlate of antidepressant response to sleep deprivation and light therapy in bipolar depression. *Chronobiol. Int.* 24:921–37
- Ben-Zeev D. 2012. Mobile technologies in the study, assessment, and treatment of schizophrenia. Schizophr. Bull. 38:384–85
- Berkman ET, Falk EB, Lieberman MD. 2011. In the trenches of real-world self-control: neural correlates of breaking the link between craving and smoking. *Psychol. Sci.* 22:498–506
- Bussmann JBJ, Ebner-Priemer UW. 2011. Ambulatory activity monitoring: assessing activity, posture, and motion patterns in daily life. See Mehl & Conner 2011, pp. 235–50
- Caspi A, Sugden K, Moffitt TE, Taylor A, Craig IW, et al. 2003. Influence of life stress on depression: moderation by a polymorphism in the 5-HTT gene. *Science* 301:386–89
- Clough BA, Casey LM. 2011. Technological adjuncts to enhance current psychotherapy practices: a review. Clin. Psychol. Rev. 31:279–92
- Cohn AM, Hunter-Reel D, Hagman BT, Mitchell J. 2011. Promoting behavior change from alcohol use through mobile technology: the future of ecological momentary assessment. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 35:2209–15
- Collins RL, Morsheimer ET, Shiffman S, Paty JA, Gnys M, Papandonatos GD. 1998. Ecological momentary assessment in a behavioral drinking moderation training program. *Exp. Clin. Psychopharmacol.* 6:306–15
- Conner TS, Barrett LF. 2012. Trends in ambulatory self-report: the role of momentary experience in psychosomatic medicine. *Psychosom. Med.* 74:327–37
- Conner TS, Lehman BJ. 2011. Getting started: launching a study in daily life. See Mehl & Conner 2011, pp. 89–107
- Conner TS, Reid KA. 2012. Effects of intensive mobile happiness reporting in daily life. Soc. Psychol. Personal. Sci. 3:315–23

- Courvoisier DS, Eid M, Lischetzke T. 2012. Compliance to a cell phone-based ecological momentary assessment study: the effect of time and personality characteristics. *Psychol. Assess.* 24:713–20
- Depp CA, Mausbach B, Granholm E, Cardenas V, Ben-Zeev D, et al. 2010. Mobile interventions for severe mental illness: design and preliminary data from three approaches. *7. Nerv. Ment. Dis.* 198:715–21
- Dick DM. 2011. Gene-environment interaction in psychological traits and disorders. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 7:383–409
- Do TMT, Blom J, Gatica-Perez D. 2011. Smartphone usage in the wild: a large-scale analysis of applications and context. In *Proc. 13th Intl. Conf. Multimodal Interfaces*, pp. 353–60. New York: Assoc. Comput. Mach.
- Dufau S, Dunabeitia JA, Moret-Tatay C, McGonigal A, Peeters D, et al. 2011. Smart phone, smart science: how the use of smartphones can revolutionize research in cognitive science. *PLoS ONE* 6:e24974
- Duncan LE, Keller MC. 2011. A critical review of the first ten years of candidate gene-by-environment interaction research in psychiatry. Am. J. Psychiatry 168:1041–49
- Ebner-Priemer UW, Eid M, Stabenow S, Kleindienst N, Trull TJ. 2009. Analytic strategies for understanding affective (in)stability and other dynamic processes in psychopathology. *7. Abnorm. Psychol.* 118:195–202
- Ebner-Priemer UW, Kubiak T. 2007. Psychological and psychophysiological ambulatory monitoring—a review of hardware and software solutions. *Eur. J. Psychol. Assess.* 23:214–26
- Ebner-Priemer UW, Kuo J, Kleindienst N, Welch SS, Reisch T, et al. 2007. State affective instability in borderline personality disorder assessed by ambulatory monitoring. *Psychol. Med.* 37:961–70
- Ebner-Priemer UW, Sawitzki G. 2007. Ambulatory assessment of affective instability in borderline personality disorder: the effect of the sampling frequency. *Eur. J. Psychol. Assess.* 23:238–47
- Ebner-Priemer UW, Trull T. 2009. Ecological momentary assessment of mood disorders and mood dysregulation. Psychol. Assess. 21:463–75
- Ebner-Priemer UW, Trull T. 2011. Measuring temporal (in)stability and variability. See Mehl & Conner 2011, pp. 423–39
- Eid M, Courvoisier DS, Lischetzke T. 2011. Structural equation modeling of ambulatory assessment data. See Mehl & Conner 2011, pp. 384–406
- Eisenberger NI, Gable SL, Lieberman MD. 2007. Functional magnetic resonance imaging responses relate to differences in real-world social experience. *Emotion* 7:745–54
- Ellis-Davies K, Sakkalou E, Fowler NC, Hilbrink EE, Gattis M. 2012. CUE: the continuous unified electronic diary method. *Behav. Res. Methods.* 44:1063–78
- Fahrenberg J, Myrtek M, eds. 2001. Progress in Ambulatory Assessment: Computer-Assisted Psychological and Psychophysiological Methods in Monitoring and Field Studies. Seattle, WA: Hogrefe & Huber
- Finan PH, Tennen H, Thoemmes F, Zautra AJ, Davis MC. 2012. Ambulatory monitoring in the genetics of psychosomatic medicine. *Psychosom. Med.* 74:349–55
- Forbes EE, Hariri AR, Martin SL, Silk JS, Moyles DL, et al. 2009. Altered striatal activation predicting real-world positive affect in adolescent major depressive disorder. Am. 7. Psychiatry 166:64–73
- Forbes EE, Stepp SD, Dahl RE, Ryan ND, Whalen D, et al. 2012. Real-world affect and social context as predictors of treatment response in child and adolescent depression and anxiety: an ecological momentary assessment study. *7. Child. Adolesc. Psychopharmacol.* 22:37–47
- Geschwind N, Nicolson NA, Peeters F, van Os J, Barge-Schaapveld D, Wichers M. 2011a. Early improvement in positive rather than negative emotion predicts remission from depression after pharmacotherapy. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 21:241–47
- Geschwind N, Peeters F, Drukker M, van Os J, Wichers M. 2011b. Mindfulness training increases momentary positive emotions and reward experience in adults vulnerable to depression: a randomized controlled trial. *J. Consult. Clin. Psychol.* 79:618–28
- Geschwind N, Peeters F, Jacobs N, Delespaul P, Derom C, et al. 2010. Meeting risk with resilience: high daily life reward experience preserves mental health. *Acta Psychiatr. Scand.* 122:129–38
- Goodwin MS. 2011. Passive telemetric monitoring: novel methods. See Mehl & Conner 2011, pp. 251-66
- Granholm E, Ben-Zeev D, Link PC, Bradshaw KR, Holden JL. 2012. Mobile Assessment and Treatment for Schizophrenia (MATS): a pilot trial of an interactive text-messaging intervention for medication adherence, socialization, and auditory hallucinations. *Schizophr. Bull.* 38:414–25
- Grassi A, Preziosa A, Villani D, Riva G. 2007. A relaxing journey: the use of mobile phones for well-being improvement. Annu. Rev. CyberTherapy Telemed. 5:123–31

- Gruber K, Moran PJ, Roth WT, Taylor CB. 2001. Computer-assisted cognitive behavioral group therapy for social phobia. *Behav. Ther.* 32:155–65
- Gunthert KC, Conner TS, Armeli S, Tennen H, Covault J, Kranzler HR. 2007. Serotonin transporter gene polymorphism (5-HTTLPR) and anxiety reactivity in daily life: a daily process approach to geneenvironment interaction. *Psychosom. Med.* 69:762–68
- Haedt-Matt AA, Keel PK. 2011. Revisiting the affect regulation model of binge eating: a meta-analysis of studies using ecological momentary assessment. *Psychol. Bull.* 137:660–81
- Havermans R, Nicolson NA, Berkhof J, deVries MW. 2011. Patterns of salivary cortisol secretion and responses to daily events in patients with remitted bipolar disorder. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 36:258–65
- Henquet C, Rosa A, Delespaul P, Papiol S, Fananas L, et al. 2009. COMT Val158Met moderation of cannabisinduced psychosis: a momentary assessment study of "switching on" hallucinations in the flow of daily life. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 119:156–60
- Heron KE, Smyth JM. 2010. Ecological momentary interventions: incorporating mobile technology into psychosocial and health behaviour treatments. Br. J. Health Psychol. 15:1–39
- Houtveen JH, de Geus EJC. 2009. Noninvasive psychophysiological ambulatory recordings. *Eur. Psychol.* 14:132-41
- Hufford MR. 2007. Special methodological challenges and opportunities in ecological momentary assessment. In *The Science of Real-Time Data Capture: Self-Reports in Health Research*, ed. AA Stone, S Shiffman, AA Atienza, L Nebeling, pp. 54–75. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Hufford MR, Shields AL, Shiffman S, Paty JA, Balabanis M. 2002. Reactivity to ecological momentary assessment: an example using undergraduate problem drinkers. *Psychol. Addict. Behav.* 16:205–11
- Jahng S, Wood PK, Trull TJ. 2008. Analysis of affective instability in ecological momentary assessment: indices using successive difference and group comparison via multilevel modeling. *Psychol. Methods* 13:354–75
- Kenardy JA, Dow MG, Johnston DW, Newman MG, Thomson A, Taylor CB. 2003. A comparison of delivery methods of cognitive-behavioral therapy for panic disorder: an international multicenter trial. *J. Consult. Clin. Psychol.* 71:1068–75
- Killingsworth MA, Gilbert DT. 2010. A wandering mind is an unhappy mind. Science 330:932
- Kimhy D, Corcoran C. 2008. Use of Palm computer as an adjunct to cognitive-behavioural therapy with an ultra-high-risk patient: a case report. *Early Interv. Psychiatry* 2:234–41
- Klosko JS, Barlow DH, Tassinari R, Cerny JA. 1990. A comparison of alprazolam and behavior therapy in treatment of panic disorder. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 58:77–84
- Kubiak T, Stone AA. 2012. Ambulatory monitoring of biobehavioral processes in health and disease. Psychosom. Med. 74:325–26
- Links PS, Heisel MJ, Garland A. 2003. Affective instability in personality disorders. Am. J. Psychiatry 160:394– 95
- Luxton DD, McCann RA, Bush NE, Mishkind MC, Reger GM. 2011. mHealth for mental health: integrating smartphone technology in behavioral healthcare. Prof. Psychol. Res. Pract. 42:505–12
- Mehl MR, Conner TS, eds. 2011. Handbook of Research Methods for Studying Daily Life. New York: Guilford
- Mehl MR, Robbins ML. 2011. Naturalistic observation sampling: the Electronically Activated Recorder (EAR). See Mehl & Conner 2011, pp. 176–92
- Meuret AE, Rosenfield D, Wilhelm FH, Zou E, Conrad A, et al. 2011. Do unexpected panic attacks occur spontaneously? *Biol. Psychiatry* 70:985–91
- Miller G. 2012. The smartphone psychology manifesto. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 7:221-37
- Moffitt TE, Caspi A, Rutter M. 2005. Strategy for investigating interactions between measured genes and measured environments. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 62:473–81
- Morris ME, Kathawala Q, Leen TK, Gorenstein EE, Guilak F, et al. 2010. Mobile therapy: case study evaluations of a cell phone application for emotional self-awareness. *J. Med. Internet Res.* 12:33–50
- Myin-Germeys I, Krabbendam L, Delespaul PA, van Os J. 2003. Do life events have their effect on psychosis by influencing the emotional reactivity to daily life stress? *Psychol. Med.* 33:327–33
- Myin-Germeys I, Oorschot M, Collip D, Lataster J, Delespau P, van Os J. 2009. Experience sampling research in psychopathology: opening the black box of daily life. *Psychol. Med.* 39:1533–47
- Newman MG, Consoli AJ, Taylor CB. 1999. A palmtop computer program for the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder. *Behav. Modif.* 23:597–619

- Newman MG, Kenardy JA, Herman S, Taylor CB. 1997. Comparison of palmtop-computer-assisted brief cognitive-behavioral treatment to cognitive-behavioral treatment for panic disorder. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 65:178–83
- Nica EI, Links PS. 2009. Affective instability in borderline personality disorder: experience sampling findings. Curr. Psychiatry Rep. 11:74–81
- Norton M, Wonderlich SA, Myers T, Mitchell JE, Crosby RD. 2003. The use of palmtop computers in the treatment of bulimia nervosa. *Eur. Eat. Disord. Rev.* 11:231–42
- Oorschot M, Kwapil T, Delespaul P, Myin-Germeys I. 2009. Momentary assessment research in psychosis. Psychol. Assess. 21:498–505
- Palmier-Claus JE, Myin-Germeys I, Barkus E, Bentley L, Udachina A, et al. 2011. Experience sampling research in individuals with mental illness: reflections and guidance. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 123:12–20
- Peeters F, Berkhof J, Rottenberg J, Nicolson NA. 2010. Ambulatory emotional reactivity to negative daily life events predicts remission from major depressive disorder. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 48:754–60
- Peeters F, Nicolson NA, Berkhof J, Delespaul PA, de Vries MW. 2003. Effects of daily events on mood states in major depressive disorder. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 112:203–11
- Portio Res. 2012. Portio Research Mobile Factbook 2012. Chippenham, UK: Portio Res. http://www.portioresearch.com/media/1797/Mobile%20Factbook%202012.pdf
- Prince SA, Adamo KB, Hamel ME, Hardt J, Gorber SC, Tremblay M. 2008. A comparison of direct versus self-report measures for assessing physical activity in adults a systematic review. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 5:56
- Przeworski A, Newman MG. 2004. Palmtop computer-assisted group therapy for social phobia. J. Clin. Psychol. 60:179–88
- Rachuri KK, Musolesi M, Mascolo C, Rentfrow PJ, Longworth C, Aucinas A. 2010. EmotionSense: a mobile phone based adaptive platform for experimental social psychology research. In Proc. 12th ACM Intl. Conf. Ubiquitous Comput. (UbiComp '10), pp. 281–90. New York: Assoc. Comput. Mach.
- Ray LA, Miranda R Jr, Tidey JW, McGeary JE, MacKillop J, et al. 2010. Polymorphisms of the mu-opioid receptor and dopamine D4 receptor genes and subjective responses to alcohol in the natural environment. *J. Abnorm. Psychol.* 119:115–25
- Razavi N, Horn H, Koschorke P, Hügli S, Höfle O, et al. 2011. Measuring motor activity in major depression: the association between the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale and actigraphy. *Psychiatry Res.* 190:212–16
- Rizvi SL, Dimeff LA, Skutch J, Carroll D, Linehan MM. 2011. A pilot study of the DBT coach: an interactive mobile phone application for individuals with borderline personality disorder and substance use disorder. *Bebav. Ther.* 42:589–600
- Robinson S, Perkins S, Bauer S, Hammond N, Treasure J, Schmidt U. 2006. Aftercare intervention through text messaging in the treatment of bulimia nervosa—feasibility pilot. *Int. J. Eat. Disord.* 39:633–38
- Santangelo P, Bohus M, Ebner-Priemer UW. 2012. Ecological momentary assessment in borderline personality disorder: a review on recent findings and methodological challenges. *J. Personal. Disord.* In press
- Schuller B, Batliner A, Steidl S, Seppi D. 2011. Recognising realistic emotions and affect in speech: state of the art and lessons learnt from the first challenge. Speech Commun. 53:1062–87
- Schwarz N. 2011. Why researchers should think "real-time"—a cognitive rationale. See Mehl & Conner 2011, pp. 22–42
- Shapiro JR, Bauer S, Andrews E, Pisetsky E, Bulik-Sullivan B, et al. 2010. Mobile therapy: use of text-messaging in the treatment of bulimia nervosa. *Int. J. Eat. Disorder* 43:513–19
- Shepard C, Rahmati A, Tossell C, Zhong L, Kortum P. 2011. LiveLab: measuring wireless networks and smartphone users in the field. Sigmetrics Perform. Eval. Rev. 38:15–20
- Shiffman S. 2009. Ecological momentary assessment (EMA) in studies of substance use. *Psychol. Assess.* 21:486– 97
- Shiffman S, Paty JA, Gnys M, Kassel JA, Hickcox M. 1996. First lapses to smoking: within-subjects analysis of real-time reports. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 64:366–79
- Shiffman S, Stone AA, Hufford MR. 2008. Ecological momentary assessment. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 4:1-32 Smith A. 2012. 46% of American Adults Are Smartphone Owners. Washington, DC: Pew Res.
  - Cent. Internet Am. Life Proj. http://pewinternet.org/~/media//Files/Reports/2012/ Smartphone%20ownership%202012.pdf

- Solhan M, Trull TJ, Jahng S, Wood P. 2009. Clinical assessment of affective instability: comparing EMA indices, questionnaire reports, and retrospective recall. *Psychol. Assess.* 21:425–36
- Solzbacher S, Böttger D, Memmesheimer M, Mussgay L, Rüddel H. 2007. Improving tension regulation in patients with personality disorders, post-traumatic stress disorder and bulimia. In *Frontiers in Stepped* eCare—eHealth Methods in Behavioural and Psychosomatic Medicine, ed. MJ Sorbi, H Rüddel, MEF Bühring, pp. 111–19. Utrecht, Netherlands: Univ. Utrecht
- Sorbi MJ, Mak M, Houtveen JH, Kleiboer AM, van Doornen LJ. 2007. Mobile Web-based monitoring and coaching: feasibility in chronic migraine. *J. Med. Internet Res.* 31:e38
- Spaniel F, Vohlídka P, Hrdlicka J, Kozený J, Novák T, et al. 2008a. ITAREPS: Information Technology Aided Relapse Prevention Programme in Schizophrenia. Schizophr. Res. 98:312–17
- Spaniel F, Vohlídka P, Kozený J, Novák T, Hrdlicka J, et al. 2008b. The Information Technology Aided Relapse Prevention Programme in Schizophrenia: an extension of a mirror-design follow-up. Int. J. Clin. Pract. 62:1943–46
- Stone AA, Shiffman S. 1994. Ecological momentary assessment (EMA) in behavioral medicine. Ann. Behav. Med. 16:199–202
- Stone AA, Shiffman S. 2002. Capturing momentary self-report data: a proposal for reporting guidelines. Ann. Behav. Med. 24:236–43
- Stone AA, Shiffman S, Atienza AA, Nebeling L, eds. 2007. The Science of Real-Time Data Capture: Self-Reports in Health Research. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Stone AA, Shiffman S, Schwartz JE, Broderick JE, Hufford MR. 2002. Patient non-compliance with paper diaries. BM7 324:1193–94
- Telford C, McCarthy-Jones S, Corcoran R, Rowse G. 2012. Experience sampling methodology studies of depression: the state of the art. Psychol. Med. 42:1119–29
- Thurm S, Kane YI. 2010. Your apps are watching you. Wall Street J. http://online.wsj.com/article/ SB10001424052748704694004576020083703574602.html
- Tomko RL, Brown WC, Tragesser SL, Wood PK, Mehl MR, Trull TJ. 2012. Social context of anger in borderline personality disorder and depressive disorders: findings from a naturalistic observation study. *J. Personal. Disord.* In press
- Trull TJ, Ebner-Priemer UW. 2009. Using experience sampling methods/ecological momentary assessment (ESM/EMA) in clinical assessment and clinical research: introduction to the special section. *Psychol. Assess.* 21:457–62
- Trull TJ, Solhan MB, Tragesser SL, Jahng S, Wood PK, et al. 2008. Affective instability: measuring a core feature of borderline personality disorder with ecological momentary assessment. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 117:647–61
- Tryon WW, Tryon GS, Kazlausky T, Gruen W, Swanson JM. 2006. Reducing hyperactivity with a feedback actigraph: initial findings. *Clin. Child Psychol. Psychiatry* 11:607–17
- Vahabzadeh M, Mezghanni M, Lin J, Epstein DH, Preston KL. 2010. PGIS: electronic diary data integration with GPS data initial application in substance-abuse patients. In Proc. 23rd IEEE Symp. Comput.-Based Med. Syst., pp. 474–79. Perth, Austral.: CBMS
- van Winkel R, Henquet C, Rosa A, Papiol S, Fananas L, et al. 2008. Evidence that the COMT Val158Met polymorphism moderates sensitivity to stress in psychosis: an experience sampling study. Am. J. Med. Genet. B 147B:10–17
- Walther S, Federspiel A, Horn H, Razavi N, Wiest R, et al. 2011. Alterations of white matter integrity related to motor activity in schizophrenia. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 42:276–83
- Walther S, Hügli S, Höfle O, Federspiel A, Horn H, et al. 2012. Frontal white matter integrity is related to psychomotor retardation in major depression. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 47:13–19
- Wenze SJ, Miller IW. 2010. Use of ecological momentary assessment in mood disorders research. Clin. Psychol. Rev. 30:794–804
- Wichers MC, Barge-Schaapveld DQCM, Nicolson NA, Peeters F, de Vries M, et al. 2009. Reduced stresssensitivity or increased reward experience: the psychological mechanism of response to antidepressant medication. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 34:923–31
- Wichers MC, Hartmann JA, Kramer IM, Lothmann C, Peeters F, et al. 2011. Translating assessments of the film of daily life into person-tailored feedback interventions in depression. *Acta Psychiatr. Scand.* 123:402–3

- Wichers M, Lothmann C, Simons CJ, Nicolson NA, Peeters F. 2012. The dynamic interplay between negative and positive emotions in daily life predicts response to treatment in depression: a momentary assessment study. Br. J. Clin. Psychol. 51:206–22
- Wichers MC, Myin-Germeys I, Jacobs N, Peeters F, Kenis G, et al. 2007. Evidence that moment-to-moment variation in positive emotions buffer genetic risk for depression: a momentary assessment twin study. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 115:451–57
- Wichers MC, Peeters F, Geschwind N, Jacobs N, Simons CJ, et al. 2010. Unveiling patterns of affective responses in daily life may improve outcome prediction in depression: a momentary assessment study. J. Affect. Disord. 124:191–95
- Wilhelm FH, Grossman P. 2010. Emotions beyond the laboratory: theoretical fundaments, study design, and analytic strategies for advanced ambulatory assessment. *Biol. Psychiatry* 84:552–69
- Wilhelm FH, Grossman P, Mueller M. 2011. Bridging the gap between laboratory and the real word: integrative ambulatory psychophysiology. See Mehl & Conner 2011, pp. 210–34
- Wilhelm P, Perrez M, Pawlik K. 2011. Conducting research in daily life: a historical overview. See Mehl & Conner, pp. 62–86
- Wilson TD, Dunn EW. 2004. Self-knowledge: its limits, value, and potential for improvement. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 55:1–26

A

## Annual Review of Clinical Psychology

Volume 9, 2013

## Contents

Evidence-Based Psychological Treatments: An Update and a Way Forward David H. Barlow, Jacqueline R. Bullis, Jonathan S. Comer, and Amantia A. Ametaj
Quitting Drugs: Quantitative and Qualitative Features      Gene M. Heyman
Integrative Data Analysis in Clinical Psychology Research Andrea M. Hussong, Patrick J. Curran, and Daniel J. Bauer
Network Analysis: An Integrative Approach to the Structure of Psychopathology Denny Borsboom and Angélique O.J. Cramer
Principles Underlying the Use of Multiple Informants' Reports Andres De Los Reyes, Sarah A. Thomas, Kimberly L. Goodman, and Shannon M.A. Kundey
Ambulatory Assessment         Timothy J. Trull and Ulrich Ebner-Priemer         151
Endophenotypes in Psychopathology Research: Where Do We Stand? Gregory A. Miller and Brigitte Rockstrob
Fear Extinction and Relapse: State of the Art Bram Vervliet, Michelle G. Craske, and Dirk Hermans
Social Anxiety and Social Anxiety Disorder Amanda S. Morrison and Richard G. Heimberg
<ul> <li>Worry and Generalized Anxiety Disorder: A Review and Theoretical Synthesis of Evidence on Nature, Etiology, Mechanisms, and Treatment</li> <li>Michelle G. Newman, Sandra J. Llera, Thane M. Erickson, Amy Przeworski, and Louis G. Castonguay</li></ul>
Dissociative Disorders in DSM-5 David Spiegel, Roberto Lewis-Fernández, Ruth Lanius, Eric Vermetten, Daphne Simeon, and Matthew Friedman

Depression and Cardiovascular Disorders Mary A. Whooley and Jonathan M. Wong
Interpersonal Processes in Depression Jennifer L. Hames, Christopher R. Hagan, and Thomas E. Joiner
Postpartum Depression: Current Status and Future Directions Michael W. O'Hara and Jennifer E. McCabe
Emotion Deficits in People with Schizophrenia      Ann M. Kring and Ori Elis      409
Cognitive Interventions Targeting Brain Plasticity in the Prodromal and Early Phases of Schizophrenia <i>Melissa Fisher, Rachel Loewy, Kate Hardy, Danielle Schlosser,</i> <i>and Sophia Vinogradov</i>
Psychosocial Treatments for Schizophrenia Kim T. Mueser, Frances Deavers, David L. Penn, and Jeffrey E. Cassisi
Stability and Change in Personality Disorders         Leslie C. Morey and Christopher J. Hopwood         499
The Relationship Between Personality Disorders and Axis I Psychopathology: Deconstructing Comorbidity Paul S. Links and Rahel Eynan
Revisiting the Relationship Between Autism and Schizophrenia: Toward an Integrated Neurobiology <i>Nina de Lacy and Bryan H. King</i>
The Genetics of Eating Disorders Sara E. Trace, Jessica H. Baker, Eva Peñas-Lledó, and Cynthia M. Bulik
Neuroimaging and Other Biomarkers for Alzheimer's Disease: The Changing Landscape of Early Detection <i>Shannon L. Risacher and Andrew J. Saykin</i>
How Can We Use Our Knowledge of Alcohol-Tobacco Interactions to Reduce Alcohol Use? Sherry A. McKee and Andrea H. Weinberger
Interventions for Tobacco Smoking Tanya R. Schlam and Timothy B. Baker
Neurotoxic Effects of Alcohol in Adolescence Joanna Jacobus and Susan F. Tapert
Socioeconomic Status and Health: Mediating and Moderating Factors <i>Edith Chen and Gregory E. Miller</i>

School Bullying: Development and Some Important Challenges	
Dan Olweus	
The Manufacture of Recovery	
Joel Tupper Braslow	

## Indexes

Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 1–9	. 811
Cumulative Index of Articles Titles, Volumes 1–9	. 815

## Errata

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology* articles may be found at http://clinpsy.annualreviews.org